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Wednesday, September 3, 2014

--- On commencing at 9:29 a.m.

MS. HARE:  Good morning.  Please be seated.


The Board is sitting today to receive the proposed settlement agreement entered into between Union Gas Limited and the parties with respect to the disposition of 2013 deferral account balances.


The application was filed on May 2nd, 2014 and given the docket number EB-2014-0145.


This is a partial settlement agreement, with four issues disputed.  Following the Board's decision on the proposed settlement agreement, the Board will proceed to hear further evidence on the four unsettled issues.


My name is Marika Hare, and I will be the presiding member.  With me on the panel is Board member Ellen Fry.


May I have appearances, please.

Appearances:

MR. SMITH:  You may.  Good morning, members of the Board.  My name is Crawford Smith.  I appear as counsel for Union Gas in this proceeding.  To my left is Mark Kitchen from Union Gas and, to my right, Karen Hockin, also from Union Gas.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. DeROSE:  Good morning, Panel.  My name is Vince DeRose.  I am here on behalf of CME.  Julie Girvan on behalf of the CCC has also asked that I put an appearance in for her.  She will not be participating in the cross-examination.  She has no questions for the panel, but she does intend to submit written argument when that date comes.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. CRANE:  Good morning, panel.  Mark Crane on behalf of IGUA, and I have been asked to put in an appearance on behalf of Dwayne Quinn on behalf of FRPO, who I understand is caught in some traffic and will be here in due course.


MS. HARE:  Okay, thank you.

MR. AIKEN:  Randy Aiken, consultant for the London Property Management Association.  I too would like to register an appearance for Michael Janigan with VECC.  I have been asked to do some of the VECC interrogatories today.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. AIKEN:  Or, sorry, cross-examination today.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Madam Chair, Ms. Fry.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  With me today are Lawrie Gluck and Daniel Kim.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.


The Board has reviewed the proposed settlement agreement and has one question.  It is in the introductory portion of the settlement agreement on page 2.  The paragraph reads:

"It is acknowledged and agreed that parties will not withdraw from this agreement absent a material change of circumstances, except as provided under Rule 30.05 of the Ontario Energy Board's Rules of Practice and Procedure."


Could you please explain what is meant by "absent a material change of circumstances" and your understanding of how Rule 30.05 would apply in this case?

MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I don't have Rule 30.05 in front of me.  I can tell you what I understood to be the intent.


MS. HARE:  I think Mr. Crane is going to help you out here.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.


As Rule 30.05 says:

"Where evidence is introduced at the hearing that may affect the settlement proposal, any party may, with leave of the Board, withdraw from the proposal upon giving notice and reasons to the other parties in Rule 30.04."


My understanding is that that is a right that parties have under the Board's rules and that the settlement agreement was simply intended to reflect that.  I am not aware of any material circumstance, and I certainly don't anticipate any evidence adduced at the hearing to address any of the issues upon which the parties have already reached an agreement, but it was simply intended to reflect that right as reflected in the rules.


MS. HARE:  All right.  Then it is the words "absent a material change of circumstances" that confused us a bit, in terms of understanding what you meant, because 30.05 covers the case where something is disclosed that wasn't -- during the hearing that wasn't previously that would cause someone to withdraw.


So my question to you and to the parties would be:  Can we delete the words "absent a material change of circumstances" and just refile that page?

MR. SMITH:  That's fine from Union's perspective.


MS. HARE:  Is that fine with the parties?

MR. DeROSE:  CME has no objection.

MR. CRANE:  No objection.

MR. AIKEN:  No objection.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, Mr. Quinn is attending later today, and there are some parties who are signatories to the agreement who are not here at the moment.  I really can't imagine that this will be a problem.  It seems to me that that language is superfluous and perhaps even misleading in light of what Mr. Smith has said, in that it suggests there may be two ways you could get out of the settlement agreement, as opposed to simply through 30.05.


That's it.  My only caution is some of the signatories to the agreement are not here at the moment.


MS. HARE:  So Mr. Millar, would you advise the Panel then to hold off --

MR. MILLAR:  I think perhaps what I could do is, Mr. Quinn is now here.  I think it would just be Mr. Janigan and Ms. Girvan would be the only two parties, I believe --


MS. HARE:  They're not present.  They're not intending to be present today.

MR. MILLAR:  No, they're not.  I could attempt to contact them over the break or -- I leave it in your hands.  I wanted the Panel to be aware that not all the people who signed the agreement are here right now.


MS. HARE:  All right.  Maybe then you could also fill Mr. Quinn in over the break and attempt to contact CCC and VECC and see if they have any concerns, and we will deal with the settlement agreement then after that.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.


Before we proceed to hear about the disputed issues, I would like to outline our proposed hearing timelines.  As you know, we'll be sitting until 12:30 only today due to other Board work occurring this afternoon.  We will therefore take only one break at around eleven o'clock.  We will resume tomorrow at nine o'clock and sit until end of day.


We have received estimates of cross-examination times and intend to follow those time estimates.  Time permitting, we will take an extended lunch break at about 12:30.  After the lunch break -- this is tomorrow I'm talking about -- after the lunch break tomorrow we will hear argument-in-chief by Union Gas.  The remainder of the schedule will be announced end of day tomorrow.


Mr. Smith, I would ask you to please provide a summary of the unsettled issues and the main areas of dispute as you understand them, while not disclosing anything that might be considered confidential as a result of the settlement conference.


The intervenors and Board Staff will have an opportunity, following Mr. Smith's submissions, to provide any comments on his characterization of the issues, if you so desire.


So Mr. Smith, could you please go over those four issues?

MR. SMITH:  My ability to be neutral will obviously be tested, I gather.
UNION GAS LTD.
Presentation of Settlement Agreement by Mr. Smith:

The settlement agreement, Madam Chair, I should say was drafted with the intent of providing the Board with a bit of an issues list, as it were.  As the Board will be aware, there is no procedural orders establishing a formal issues list in this proceeding.  The settlement agreement was drafted to follow generally Union's pre-filed evidence.


So the disputed issues can be found at, I believe, issues 1, 10, and 18 of the settlement agreement.  And I am happy to speak to each of those.  They were drafted, we had hoped, in such a way as to provide a generic issue.  I will try and put a bit of meat on each of the bones.


So the first issue is under heading 1, spot gas variance account, which can be found on page 4 of the settlement agreement.  And there are, broadly speaking, two issues that can be found under item (i).


The first deals with South bundled direct purchase load balancing costs, and this is discussed at Union's pre-filed evidence, pages 2 to 11, but the crux of it can really be found at page 9.


And the issue here is Union purchased spot gas in March -- well, purchased gas for March consumption to reflect the fact that bundled direct purchasers -- purchase customers were consuming more than their forecast, and Union wanted to ensure that it had sufficient gas in the ground to meet its March 31 end date.


So the question that arises is:  Is it appropriate for Union to recover the cost associated with what turned out to be a 0.8 petajoule purchase of gas from South direct purchase customers.


There's a small credit of 1.53 for Union South sales service customers.  So that's Roman numeral (i).


And I should pause there and -- my understanding, anyway, of what may be coming back, it is certainly Union's proposal as reflected in its prefiled evidence to recover that.  And my understanding anyway of what may be coming back is that there was a concern relating to notice of these purchases provided to the customers -- in other words, the purchases were made without prior notice to them -- and the question as to whether or not, having regard to the terms and conditions of Union's contracts with those customers, whether it is appropriate for Union to recover the amount against those customers.


So the next sub-issue is an allocation question, and it really flows out of what I just said.  Union's proposal is to recover the amount of $1.954 million from South bundled direct purchase customers who were below their banked gas account balance, and to refund a certain portion to Union sales service customers.


And then there is a final issue relating to whether or not the deferral account should be disposed of in this proceeding or in Union's 2014 non-commodity deferral account proceeding.  And it's Union's proposal to do it now.


MS. HARE:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  The next issue under the spot gas variance account relates to unaccounted-for gas.  And I should highlight that the issue here is not the volume of unaccounted-for gas, but simply a price variance relating to unaccounted-for gas.


And the issue is that Union was required -- well, Union, as system operator, noted through the winter from November through to March that its UFG experience was greater than forecast.  So Union was required to acquire or replace that gas that was unaccounted for.


And the issue is that the amount or the price relating to that UFG was or is different than the amount included in rates, and it's that price variance of $4.729 million which is at issue.


And it's not the quantum which is in dispute, because the quantum is agreed.  What is at issue is the appropriateness of allocating the $4.729 million to Union South sales service customers only, or whether -- as I understand it -- the allocation should be made to customers more broadly.

And Union's rationale for why it should be allocated to Union South sales service customers only is set out in its prefiled evidence at pages 7 to 11.  And generally speaking, it is because, looking back, that's how price variances have been dealt with through the South purchase gas variance account, which is cleared to South sales service customers, and it has historically been a benefit to them and this time it's not.

MS. HARE:  Okay.

MR. SMITH:  That brings me to item 10, which can be found on page 8 of the settlement agreement.  So this would be the second main issue.

So this issue relates to Union's average use per customer deferral account.  This is a deferral account that Union has had for some time.  It was in place during the IRM period from 2008 through to 2012, and was continued explicitly by the Board in its 2013 rebasing proceeding, which, for the record, was EB-2011-0210.

The average use deferral account during the period from 2008 through 2012 did not include any costs or revenues associated with storage.  What it reflected was changes in average use reflected in delivery rates.  And the issue, as I understand it, is whether or not the account balance should be determined in the same way it was determined between 2008 and 2012, or whether or not storage-related revenues and costs should be included in the calculation of the balance for 2013.

Item 18 is the last issue which is in dispute.  It's a bit of a -- maybe "funny" isn't the right word, but a bit of a different type of issue.


The question is the allocation -- again, it is simply an allocation question -- the allocation of checkpoint balancing penalties.  Union has outstanding right now, in docket 2014-0154, a proceeding in relation to the checkpoint balancing penalties which were imposed by Union in relation to customers who failed to meet their winter checkpoint.


So certain customers, bundled transportation customers, have an obligation to meet a February 28th winter checkpoint.  And for those customers that don't meet that checkpoint, there is a term in the contract that provides that those customers will essentially buy gas from Union at -- pursuant to the R1 rate schedule, which prescribes the gas of the gas will be the highest spot price in February or March, in effect.

So Union has a proceeding outstanding where it has sought a one-time exemption from that rate schedule to reduce the penalty, and I believe the reduction would be from $78 to $50.  But that is an open proceeding that the Board is currently considering, and indeed Union filed its argument-in-chief yesterday.


So the parties acknowledge that the appropriate penalty is going to be determined by the Board in that other case, but the question for this Panel is simply, once that number is known, how will the revenues received from the penalty be allocated to various customer classes?  It is not money Union keeps.  It is money that flows through the -- well, Union's proposal is to flow it through the South purchased gas variance account, which would mean that it would go to Union South sales customers, and the issue is whether or not it should go more broadly than that, generally speaking.  And I believe more specifically the issue is, should it just be sales service customers who receive the benefit of this?  Or should it be bundled direct customers who met their winter checkpoint?


So I think that is all of the issues that are in dispute.


MS. HARE:  Okay, thank you.


Does anyone have anything to add to Mr. Smith's description of the issues?  Mr. Quinn?
Submissions by Mr. Quinn:

MR. QUINN:  Yes, Madam Chair.  Dwayne Quinn on behalf of FRPO and OGVG.  I appreciate Mr. Smith was providing an overview, and maybe in the amount he provided some detail was missed, but I think it is an important distinction.


On the first issue, spot gas variance account, I believe he characterized it as, should Union be able to recover it, you know, in the way that it is proposed.


I would just like to note that we look at it more broadly, and should Union -- it says whether is able to recover it -- that is more broadly in the -- does -- should Union be able to recover it or did it have the resources to manage that risk inside of what it's provided in the IRM period?


MS. HARE:  Okay.

MR. QUINN:  Then lastly on number 18, which I think captured very well, with one important distinction at the end that we would make, is that Mr. Smith said he believed it could be spread to bundled customers who met their winter checkpoint.


Since in our view the issues are distinct, the February checkpoint and the March under-consumption, whether a customer met the obligation at the end of February or not I think is immaterial as to whether they would qualify for the benefits that could flow to all bundled direct customers that have a potential penalty coming at them from Union's proposal.


I am not sure my words are clear enough, so I welcome any clarification, if necessary.


MS. HARE:  Well, I think I understand your point.


So Mr. Smith said an alternative to their proposal, which is to put it in the PGVA, is to give the money back to bundled direct customers who met their winter checkpoint.


You're suggesting, well, the argument could be that it is all bundled customers, whether they met their checkpoint or not.

MR. QUINN:  And who may be projected to get a penalty as a result of what Union is proposing in this application, yes, thank you.


MS. HARE:  Okay, thank you.  Anyone else?


Well then, Mr. Smith, we're ready to be introduced to your panel.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.


So allow me to introduce from my far right Mr. Christopher Shorts, Pat Elliott, and Greg Tetreault.  They are respectfully the director of gas supply for Union Gas, the controller for Union Gas, and the manager of rates and pricing for Union Gas, and you should have their curriculum vitae on the screen, and it may make sense -- I believe we have passed them out -- to just simply mark them as an exhibit.

MR. MILLAR:  Exhibit K1.1.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  CURRICULA VITAE OF CHRISTOPHER SHORTS, PAT ELLIOTT, AND GREG TETREAULT

MR. MILLAR:  That will be all three.

MR. SMITH:  Each of the witnesses, Madam Chair, has testified before the Board and I believe is well-known to the Board.  I wouldn't propose to review their CV, and in the interest of moving things along --


MS. HARE:  Yes, that's not necessary.

MR. SMITH:  -- perhaps what I will do is just ask them to adopt the evidence and interrogatory responses, and perhaps, Ms. Elliott, you could do that for the panel.  Do you adopt the evidence and interrogatory responses for the purposes of testifying here today?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, I do.


MS. HARE:  I'm sorry, should we have the witnesses affirmed first?

MR. SMITH:  Absolutely.


MS. HARE:  Yes.


MS. FRY:  Good morning, members of the panel.  If you could just stand up, I am going to swear you in collectively.  I will ask you to do individual "I dos" at the appropriate points.  It will save a bit of time.

UNION GAS LTD. - PANEL 1


Christopher Shorts, Affirmed


Pat Elliott, Affirmed


Greg Tetreault; Affirmed

MS. FRY:  Thank you, please be seated.

MR. SMITH:  So now that the witnesses have been affirmed, perhaps I should ask Ms. Elliott the question again.


Ms. Elliott, do you adopt the evidence on behalf of the panel, the pre-filed evidence and interrogatory answers, for the purposes of testifying before the Board today?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, we did provide a compendium that may be of some use.  I have a few limited questions in examination in-chief, that I would propose that that be marked as the next exhibit.

MR. MILLAR:  K1.2.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  UNION GAS COMPENDIUM.


MS. HARE:  Mr. Millar, I don't think we have that on the dais.


--- Mr. Millar passes document up.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Smith:

MR. SMITH:  So perhaps, just by way of introduction, there is an index, and we have essentially two tabs.  The first tab relates to the deferral account number 179-118 and the second relates to certain evidence that is included in EB-2014-0154.


I would also draw the Board's attention to, I believe it is section 22(3) of the Ontario Energy Board Act, which permits the Board to receive evidence from another open proceeding.


So the question off the bat, Mr. Tetreault, is for you.  If I could ask you to turn through to tab -- in tab 1, and it's the page that is marked at the bottom page 13, item number 4, "average use factor".  Do you have that?  It should be on the screen.

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  Just briefly, can you describe what is being reflected in this section of the 2000 and -- or the IRM settlement agreement for 2008-2012?

MR. TETREAULT:  This section of the 0606 settlement really lays out how changes or forecast changes in average use would be reflected in Union's general service delivery rates over the course of the 2008-to-2012 IRM term.

MR. SMITH:  Can I ask you to turn over to page 14.  And there is the, I guess second paragraph, that says an illustrative example of the M1 rate class has been provided in appendix C.  Do you see that?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  Perhaps we could turn over a couple of pages to the item that is on the screen now, the example of 2008 rate adjustments, excluding base rate adjustments and Y factors.  Do you have that?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  Is this appendix C referred to earlier in the settlement agreement?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, it is.

MR. SMITH:  Can you just take a minute to walk us through what is reflected on this schedule?  And I would like you to particularly pay attention to the lines that can be found -- lines 6, 12, 18, and 24 relating to storage.

MR. TETREAULT:  Certainly.  This appendix is -- was intended at the time to be an illustrative example of how the rate adjustments for various parameters agreed to during the last IR would be implemented.


So in terms of lines 6, 12, 18, and 24, what you can see there are the Board-approved billing units associated with storage rates from 2007.


And as it relates to the last section of this appendix -- so that is the section starting on line 19, where the example is an M1 example using a $17 monthly charge, including a decline in average use of 1.7 percent.  In that section, what you can see with regard to the delivery rates -- sorry, excuse me, the delivery billing units that are laid out by block on lines 20 through 22, what you can see there is that Union has applied volume adjustments equal to 1.7 percent to each block.


The best way to see that is by way of comparison to, I would say, line numbers 14 through 16.  So you can see in comparing lines 14 to 16 to lines 20 to 22 that the billing units used for rate-setting in this example are different, and those billing unit differences reflect the application in this example of an average use decline of 1.7 percent.

MR. SMITH:  Just so it is clear, Mr. Tetreault, am I right that you're looking under column A and comparing, for example, line 14, which is $942,287, to line number 20, which is $926,268?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, that's correct.  That reflects a difference of 1.7 percent.


And I mention that because you can also see in this appendix, by way of example, that when comparing the storage billing units, for example, column A, line 18 versus column A, line 24, that the storage billing units were not impacted over the course of IR by changes in average use.

MR. SMITH:  Just let me clarify some terminology, if I could.

You referred to delivery rates; what is included in delivery rates?

MR. TETREAULT:  Delivery rates recover both fixed and variable costs associated with the distribution system.

MR. SMITH:  And are storage rates included in what you have referred to as delivery rates?

MR. TETREAULT:  No, they are not.  Storage rates in the general service classes are a distinct rate that recovers storage-related costs.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Now, if I could perhaps move you forward a page -- and maybe this is for Ms. Elliott, but we have an accounting entry for deferral account -- an accounting order for deferral account number 179-118.  Do you see that?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I do, yes.

MR. SMITH:  And is this the accounting order in place in respect of the deferral account at issue in this proceeding?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, it is.

MR. SMITH:  And was this deferral account in this form the same for 2008 through 2012?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, it was.

MR. SMITH:  Can I ask that we turn forward a page in the compendium -- and maybe back again to you, Mr. Tetreault -- and identify the document at this page?  It appears to be an interrogatory and response to LPMA.

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, it is.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Can you just show us or describe what's being asked and responded to in this interrogatory?

MR. TETREAULT:  This interrogatory response is from the EB-2009-0052 proceeding.  So that is Union's 2008 deferral account disposition proceeding.  That took place in 2009.


And this was the first year that Union sought to dispose of a balance in the average use deferral that was agreed to in the 2007-0606 settlement agreement.

And in essence, what this IR response is doing, in response to a question from Mr. Aiken, is just outlining the methodology Union used.  And there's an attachment that provides a numerical -- the numbers to back it up.  It just provides a brief description of the manner in which Union calculated the average use deferral account balance at the time of this proceeding.

And in particular in the last sentence of the middle paragraph, we reference that in terms of calculating the deferral account balance, we used 2008 Board-approved average delivery rates in the -- in that calculation.

MR. SMITH:  And did those delivery rates include storage costs?

MR. TETREAULT:  No, they did not.

MR. SMITH:  And was the calculation of the amount in the average deferral account done in accordance with appendix C in the settlement agreement that we looked at earlier?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Mr. Tetreault.  Those are the only questions I had for you.

I have a question for you, Mr. Shorts, maybe two questions for you, and they relate to the questions that were asked by Mr. Quinn.


Union received a letter, Madam Chair, from FRPO on -- over the Labour Day long weekend on September 1st, and that's been put up on the page, if you have that.

And what I would propose to do is -- the question asks or the letter asks for answers to certain questions, and I thought it might be administratively easier if I just asked the witness to provide the answer on the record now.

So in the first -- or second paragraph, Mr. Shorts, the letter asks that Union provide the targeted month-end storage fill percentage.  Do you see that?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  And I guess the first question I have for you is:  Does Union have targets for its month-end storage fill?

MR. SHORTS:  Union does not have monthly storage fill targets.  What we do have are forecasts.


What we do have targets for are to manage to October 31st and to March 31st control points.

MR. SMITH:  And maybe you could just advise, what are those targets for October and March?

MR. SHORTS:  For October, as we noted in the answer to FRPO OGVG.2, the target for October 31st is 74.6 pJs.


When you remove the integrity of 9.5, that leaves 64.9 pJs as the target for October 31st fill.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.

MR. SHORTS:  And for March 31st, the target is zero, plus 6 pJs of integrity space being filled.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And you mentioned that you have forecasts.  Does Union manage to its monthly forecasts?

MR. SHORTS:  No, Union does not manage to the monthly forecasts.  It manages to the targets for October 31 and for March 31.

MR. SMITH:  The third paragraph of the letter, there is a request that Union complete the table, table 1 on page 6 of its evidence in a separate proceeding, EB-2014-0050, which was a QRAM proceeding.

And can you please provide Union's response to that question?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  As we outlined in FRPO OGVG.22 the only spot gas purchase that we made post that schedule being compiled was 0.4 pJs on March 18th.  And the costs of those purchases will be disposed of in the next QRAM to the account of the sales service or system customers.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you, members of the Panel.  Those are my questions in examination in-chief, and I just propose to tender them for cross-examination at this time.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.


I think, Mr. Aiken, then, you are first to cross-examine.  So please proceed.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Aiken:

MR. AIKEN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Good morning, witnesses.  I am going to start with the allocation of the checkpoint balancing penalties, the amount of which is being determined in EB-2014-0154.


Am I correct that the amount to be recovered is either about 9.2 million or 6 million, depending on the outcome of that proceeding?  And I am taking those numbers from the third-last page of the Union compendium, which is a response to BOMA.

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And at a high level, is Union's proposal to allocate the penalty amount to system gas customers and clear it through the QRAM process by applying the credit -- the penalty, sorry, as a credit to the PGVA balance?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Why do none of the penalty charge revenues flow through to direct purchase customers?

MR. SHORTS:  The reason those costs would not flow to direct purchase customers is that when the customer fails to meet the February 28th checkpoint there is actually an inventory transfer, and that inventory transfer takes place between the sales service or system inventory into the customer's BGA.

It is therefore the sales service inventory that is being utilized to provide that function.  It is not inventory that we, for example, took from other bundled direct purchase customers or other direct purchase customers.  It was inventory that was allocated and taken from the sales service inventory and, therefore, the sales service customers should be the customers who get allocated the revenue.

MR. AIKEN:  That leads me then to the response to Exhibit B, OGVG number 3 in the 0154 case, which is on the last page of your compendium.

I want to read the part of the response to part (c).  It says:

"The charge to DP customers is credited to Union North and Union South sales service customers to ensure that the cost consequences of DP customers failing to balance are not borne by these customers."

So is that basically a summary of what you just said?

MR. SHORTS:  That would be in addition to what I said.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So what are the potential cost consequences of some direct purchase customers failing to balance?

MR. SHORTS:  So when direct purchase customers fail to balance, the system supply has to make up that difference and, therefore, those costs could have been dramatically higher depending on the time in which we were able to procure the supply.

MR. AIKEN:  So all of those cost consequences would flow through to system gas customers if there was no adjustment for the gas that you had to buy.  In other words, you're buying gas, and it goes into the system, it goes into the PGVA.  Is that correct?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, that's correct.  Sorry, that is correct, that the -- at the point in time where the customers didn't balance, there was a transfer of system gas inventory to them.  The charge was at the higher rate.

That gas has been purchased for system gas and will be replaced for the system gas customers, and they will pay the cost of those purchases.  And so the penalty that we collect for that transfer of inventory is a credit against those costs.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, if these cost consequences of the direct purchasers failing to balance, if those came about, would those costs generally be included in the delivery rate, the storage rate, or the commodity rate?  I think from what you're telling me it would be in the commodity rate for system gas customers.  Is that correct?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.  They would be, Mr. Aiken, by virtue of the credit against the South PGVA.

MR. AIKEN:  My question is, aren't these really load balancing costs?  And if so, why wouldn't they be included in the storage rates rather than in the commodity rates?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The costs we're talking about is a transfer of inventory.  So how we meet the imbalance, if you will, is to sell gas to the customer who didn't purchase the supply on their own.  So they didn't make their own gas purchase.

We transfer the inventory to make up that imbalance.  So the commodity and the cost of gas is what is being incurred in this case to balance those customers.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, the response to the OGVG inventory or interrogatory also refers to the response to OGVG number 1 in the 0154 proceeding.

Now, in that response -- and I will just read part of it into the record here -- it says:

"The contract language is in place to ensure that customers balance to their contractual commitment.  The Board indicated in its RP 2001-0029 decision..."

And then this is the quote:

"...'the failure to balance can place compliance system participants at risk'."

So just stopping there, who are the compliant system participants?  Is that only system gas customers?  Or is that all or some of the direct purchase customers?

MR. SHORTS:  That would be only the system sales customers, because that is where the inventory is being transferred from.

So, for example, it could have been a scenario where, if Union had not proactively made those purchases, we would have potentially been in the market in that late February time period incurring those kind of costs, whether they be $50 or $78.  Then those costs would have actually gone into the system inventory.

MR. AIKEN:  But wouldn't other direct purchase customers who were in balance, wouldn't they not also be at risk?

MR. SHORTS:  System customers who -- or direct purchase customers who were in balance would have no further action required.  Those customers have met their February 28th checkpoint, and at that point in time they would have no other obligation to bring in incremental supply.

MR. AIKEN:  But I'm talking about the Union Gas system as a whole.  If you don't have enough gas at the end of February and the system is at risk, that system is not just system gas customers.  It is direct purchase customers.

MR. SHORTS:  It is at the end of March that is when the system is at risk.  So why we have the checkpoint in February is to allow for, if customers don't meet the February 29th or 28th checkpoint, then Union has time to actually make up that difference to ensure that for the overall system we do not go below the 6 pJs of integrity space that is required on March 31 for the plan.

MR. AIKEN:  My question is, when you say "the overall system", that includes system and direct purchase customers.  They will both be at risk if Union did not take the action that it took.

MR. SHORTS:  There would be operational risk and integrity and reliability of the system risk if we were not -- if we dip below the 6 pJs.

MR. AIKEN:  If the Board directed Union to allocate the penalty charges to both system gas and all direct purchase customers, would Union be able to split the penalty charges into an amount that would go to the system gas customers and an amount that would go to the direct purchase customers?  I assumed it would be on a volumetric basis, but perhaps not.

MR. TETREAULT:  We haven't obviously done that work, Mr. Aiken.  But I would suggest it could be -- it could be done.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Then in this scenario the direct purchase customers that paid the penalty charges would essentially be getting a refund of part of that penalty.

Would you be able to provide a ballpark estimate of the amount that the offending direct purchase customers would receive under the two scenarios, contemplated in EB-2014-0154, that being the 9.2 million and the $6 million penalty?

I am just trying to get a handle on whether we're talking about a couple thousand dollars going to those direct purchase customers that were in violation of their balancing, or whether it would be hundreds of thousands of dollars going to those customers.

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, we could do so, Mr. Aiken.  I think we would need to think about it, but we would likely take a volumetric approach to that allocation, as you mentioned in your previous question, but we can undertake to do so.

MR. AIKEN:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  J1.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1: TO PROVIDE A BALLPARK ESTIMATE OF THE AMOUNT THAT DIRECT PURCHASE CUSTOMERS WOULD RECEIVE UNDER THE TWO SCENARIOS CONTEMPLATED IN EB- 2014-0154.

MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, that is fine.  There is one caveat I should, perhaps, add.


Mr. Aiken's questions were premised upon the amount at issue being 9 million, roughly, or 6 million, roughly.


Those numbers come from Union's proposal, which is -- the 9 million is if you just applied the Board rate schedule without exemption, and the 6 million as if you applied the one-time exemption.


That's fine; that's Union's proposal.  But we haven't received argument yet from other parties that may propose something else.  I fully expect in that proceeding that NRG is going to say that the penalty, based on its evidence, should be something much lower.  So the $6 million number would be lower, but -- I don't think it affects anything.  I just want people to understand --


MS. HARE:  I understand that.  I know that TransCanada had a different proposal as well.

MR. SMITH:  Absolutely.


MS. HARE:  That's fine.  I think Mr. Aiken is going for a ballpark with those two numbers, and he can extrapolate from that.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  That's fine.  I just wanted it understood.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, would Union be able to segregate the direct purchase volume so that no direct purchase customer that failed to balance got any of the penalty revenues?  In other words, if you allocated the penalty revenues to system gas customers and only to those direct purchase customers that were in balance?


I'm not asking, you know, for any numbers, just can you do it?

MR. TETREAULT:  Again, we haven't worked through that, Mr. Aiken, but I would suggest mechanically it could be done.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Then my final question in this area is:  Has Union received checkpoint balancing penalty revenue in the past?  And if so, how was any such revenue allocated in the past?


MS. ELLIOTT:  I presume we have had revenue in the past.  I'm not aware of the amounts.  They haven't sort of raised the level of the significance of this.


But the practice is certainly to credit any recovery of costs greater than the reference price to the deferral account, so that the amounts collected above the approved reference price are refunded to or reduce any charges to system sales customers only.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Thank you.


I am moving on now to the next issue, which is whether Union's permitted to recover the 1.954 million from the Union South direct purchase customers that were below their planned banked gas account balances at the end of March.


So could you turn to the response to B, Staff 1 in this proceeding?  And I am looking specifically at the response to part (a).

MR. TETREAULT:  We have that.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, the response indicates that there are two balancing options for Union South bundled direct purchase customers, Union-determined and customer-determined.


The response then goes on to describe the Union-determined customers and who has to do what in that case.  And near the end of that response, it says:

"On an actual basis, if consumption and weather are different than what is included in the Union-determined action, Union and not the customer would need to purchase incremental gas (load-balancing gas) before the end of March to maintain system integrity and deliverability for Union South customers."


Then it goes on to say:

"Union is required to buy for weather and consumption variances in February after the necessary balancing activity has been established and communicated, and in March after the checkpoint has passed."


Then the next paragraph says:

"Customer-determined customers are required to take action to balance to their PGA checkpoint, and Union is required to buy for weather and consumption variances in March after the checkpoint has passed."


So I take it that this is the 0.8 pJs that you bought and the reason you bought it, as well as the 0.4 that you mentioned earlier, Mr. Shorts, for system gas customers?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, it is the 0.8 in regards to the checkpoint and DP customers.  The 0.4 was for sales service or system customers, and not because of the incremental consumption of the bundled direct purchase customers.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So based on that response, then, that I just read, am I correct in saying that it is Union's responsibility to buy for weather and consumption variances in March after the checkpoint is passed?

MR. SHORTS:  As we had stated in the original application in which the checkpoints and load balancing was discussed, about a decade ago, as well as in the 2008 standardization of the QRAM proceeding, we addressed this actual scenario.


In the original case -- back in 2003, I believe -- we had actually proposed a March park, and a March park would have been a temporary supply of gas on the Union system to help maintain any -- and cover off any load balancing or incremental consumption by the direct purchase customers.  That was not approved.


But we did address this scenario again in the 2008 standardization of the QRAM proceeding, and we're following that exact same process, where we stated that if there was incremental consumption by the direct purchase customers, either post the February 28th checkpoint requirement being stipulated, as well as any March consumption -- any March incremental consumption, that we would seek recovery of those load-balancing costs in the deferral application we have here today.


And again, remembering that we just came through probably a one in 50-year winter, up to this point in time we had not actually incurred or proposed to dispose of any load-balancing costs like this for Union South bundled direct purchase customers.

MR. AIKEN:  So is the issue really then about ensuring that the parties that caused Union to incur these costs are the parties that end up paying for these costs?

MR. SHORTS:  Absolutely.  We have already handled the load-balancing costs for Union South sales service customers, Union North sales service customers, as well as Union's North bundled direct purchase customers.


It is these Union South bundled direct purchase customers are the only ones that we have not dealt with the costs yet.

MR. AIKEN:  I want to understand how the 1.954 million figure has been calculated.  So, again, if you could turn to B Staff 1, and this is on page 3.  It is table 1, corrected.  Yes, it is up on the screen now.

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  So the calculation of the 1.954 is based on the price differential of $2.44, which is the difference between the $7.12 in line 1 and the 4.676 in line 4; is that correct?

MR. SHORTS:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  If you go back to page 2 of that IR response where those numbers are calculated, these are -- if I understand it correctly -- the weighted averages of the costs shown for the December 12th through February 21st period?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  The 7.12 was the weighted average cost of all the gas purchased during that period of time, and the 4.676 was the weighted average of the summer price at each time we made those purchases.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, why was this specific period used?  Is this the only period in which you purchased additional gas?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, because we purchased the gas -- or purchase gas to manage all of the requirements, not just this, we used the weighted average.


And it's a consistent way that we have used to actually calculate load-balancing costs.  You have to recall or remember that we're not actually doing an inventory transfer.  We're basically just recovering the cost of loaning -- or the direct purchase customers borrowing the system inventory for the month of March.  They will then re-deliver that gas in the summertime before their contract expiry, to meet their contract obligations at that point in time.

MR. AIKEN:  Could you, please, pull up Exhibit B, FRPO OGVG No. 22?  I am going to be looking specifically at the response to part (b) of that question.


It says that:

"Union always plans to maintain the full 6 petaJoules of integrity supply year-round.  For March 31st, 2014, Union purchased supply based on actual and forecasted activity to meet the targeted inventory position of zero, plus 6 pJ of integrity supply."


Then it says "in addition to the spot gas described in Union's April 2014 QRAM", so stopping there, that is the .8 PJs?

MR. SHORTS:  No.  In -- that's the --

MR. AIKEN:  That's the .4.

MR. SHORTS:  That's the .4, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Well, then I don't understand.  It then goes on to say "Union purchased an additional .4 PJs".

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  We had to purchase an additional .4 PJs in March to ensure that, based on our forecast, that come the end of March we would still have at least 6 PJs of integrity in the ground.


And our calculations were driven by the fact that it was the system sales customers' incremental consumptions that required us to purchase that .4 PJs.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  But my question is, it says:

"In addition to the spot gas described in Union's April 2014 QRAM, Union purchased an additional .4 PJs."


So is what was in your April 2014 QRAM, that was your normal purchases?

MR. SHORTS:  No.  Up until that time, we had -- when we made that filing we had purchased 29.8 PJs of gas.


In March, after we had made the filing, we had to purchase an additional .4.  That increased our total winter spot purchases from 29.8 to 30.2 PJs.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay, I understand that now.

MR. SHORTS:  Okay?

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So going back to the difference between the .8 for direct purchase customers and the .4 for system gas purchasers, your proposal is that the .8 gets paid for by whom?  It gets allocated to those customers who caused you to go out and buy the .8?

MR. SHORTS:  The .8 PJs is being allocated based on the customers that came below their March 31st forecasted inventory and therefore drove the need to buy an incremental .8 PJs before the end of March.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  When did Union determine that it needed the additional .8 PJs?

MR. SHORTS:  If you recall in the QRAM evidence for the April 1 QRAM, we actually made a purchase on -- we made a purchase on February the 21st.  I am going back to an appendix that we filed in the April 1 QRAM in which we outlined all of the purchases that we made and what the drivers for each of those purchases were.


And within that we described that it was for direct purchase forecasted variance, consumption variances, and updated February and March weather forecasts.


So at that point in time, again, we don't buy specifically for individual reasons, but in aggregate we at that point in time had forecasted a need to buy 1.8 PJs.


We had also coincidentally in the QRAM evidence had suspected that 1.8 -- just coincidentally happened to be the same number -- was going to be the necessary number to balance off the load balancing of those bundled direct purchase customers.


When the actual values were available for that period, that number was revised to .8 PJs, and that's the number that we have calculated here.

MR. AIKEN:  So here's the basic question that I am sure others will follow up on today and tomorrow.  And that is, why did Union need to purchase this additional gas when it had 6 petaJoules of integrity inventory available?

MR. SHORTS:  You've got to remember what integrity is designed for.  Integrity is intended for those unforecasted or unexpected variances.  So things like in-the-day weather changes, weather changes over the last weekend, especially in this case.  When we went into the end of March we found out that actually the weather became much colder over the last weekend.


We need that 6 PJs of integrity space to manage all of that.  We also need to have it available to manage supply disruptions.  So, for example, if we had had a major supply disruption on March 31, because we can't tell when these are going to happen, if we had Vector or TransCanada, for example, fail, we would have potentially needed that entire 6 PJs available to manage that issue.


This was not the -- the incremental consumption of the direct purchase customers was not unforecasted or unforeseen.  We knew that was happening.  And therefore, we made proactive decisions to cover that off.


The integrity is not intended for that, much like it is not intended for us to use it to balance off the sales service customers.

MR. AIKEN:  So to paraphrase that, the integrity or contingency space, the 6 petaJoules, that is for unforeseen circumstances, and the .8 was a foreseen circumstance.  So you wouldn't use the contingency space or the integrity inventory for that.

MR. SHORTS:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, if the Board determines that the 1.954 million should not be recovered from the direct purchase customers that were below their planned BGA balance, who would end up paying this amount?


MS. ELLIOTT:  As a cost -- a purchase cost variance, it would be allocated to system gas customers.

MR. AIKEN:  And part of this issue is, why are you seeking disposal of this account or this balance now when it was incurred in 2014 and we're dealing with 2013 deferral accounts?


So my simple question is, why should this cost be dealt with now rather than, you know, eight months from now?


MS. ELLIOTT:  The issue here is that it's a gas purchase variance.  Gas purchase variance costs are dealt with on a quarterly basis.  The non-gas commodity deferrals are dealt with on an annual basis.


So we have got an issue here where we're dealing with a commodity variance.  But the QRAM process wasn't really designed to deal with or to review these types of purchases, so we brought it forward now, recognizing that it needed to be dealt with on a timely basis.


We've just come out of the winter.  We needed to deal with it when the issue was kind of fresh and get the recovery from the customers really on a timely basis.


And if you look at the expectation is gas purchase variance costs are dealt with quarterly, we took the -- we took this out of the April QRAM because of the mechanistic approach that the QRAM goes through and brought it forward in the first application we could, which was this one.

MR. AIKEN:  Is this the -- basically the same reason why you are proposing to dispose of the checkpoint balancing penalties as part of this proceeding?  Again, they were incurred in 2014.


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.  Absolutely.  We've got really, I guess, three issues that are all related to the gas commodity issues, which is the load balancing, the unaccounted-for gas, and the checkpoint penalties, none of which really the QRAM approach is designed to handle, that need to be dealt with quickly, really wouldn't be appropriate to leave it 'til next summer to address these issues.

MR. AIKEN:  Am I correct that the direct purchase customers that you are charging this March balancing charge have no contractual obligation to be at or above their planned BGA balance at the end of March?

MR. SHORTS:  There is nothing specifically laid out in the contract that would put that requirement on those customers after they've met their February 28th checkpoint.


But again, I will reiterate.  This is nothing new.  We did know this eventuality could happen, and we did address this in a number of scenarios previously.


We do have, within the general terms and conditions -- there is acknowledgment in those areas of the contract that any Board order would override and/or amend any of the contracts per se.

MR. AIKEN:  Does Union have any plans to change the contractual requirements so that the direct purchase customers have to be at or above their planned BGA level at the end of March?  And if not, why not?

MR. SHORTS:  I would say not, because when you look at deferral account recovery, deferral account recovery is not contemplated in really any of the contract language.


So any deferral account that we would collect or -- to -- or collect from or provide to all the direct purchase customers is -- none of that is contemplated within the contracts themselves.


So to try and come up with every eventuality or every scenario and put it into the contract is probably -- probably unworkable.

MR. AIKEN:  When did Union notify these customers that they were going to be below their planned BGA levels at the end of March?  Or did you?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, the first official communications were when we discussed it at customer meetings, which commenced in May.  So we actually had customers together in May in which this was discussed.


We also followed it up with Factsline and Enerline, which are a couple of publications that we provide to those customers, in which we outlined the proposal that Union was providing here.


I am not exactly sure whether notice would have -- any kind of notice would have really done anything, because realistically, as you mentioned, there is no requirement for them to deliver incremental gas in March.  And even if they had, you know, if you looked at the average winter spot price or the average March spot price, that price was actually about $12, so that was well in excess of the $7 that we used to calculate the winter/summer differential.


So customers that probably would have gone out and tried to balance, if they bought extra gas, potentially would have had a much greater cost themselves than what we are proposing here.

MR. AIKEN:  So if you didn't advise them that they're going to be -- or that they're potentially below their March BGA forecasted levels, I take it from that that Union did not communicate to these customers that there would or could be a charge imposed on them for being below their forecasted BGA levels?

MR. SHORTS:  We did not specifically communicate, although when you look at when we provided or filed for the March -- or for the April 1 QRAM in March, we did address that.  And that number at that point in time was the 1.8 and the higher number, so...

MR. AIKEN:  How many direct purchase customers are impacted by this charge?

MR. SHORTS:  As we have noted -- I am trying to remember which interrogatory -- we had 325 direct purchase customers who were below their March 31st planned inventory.

MR. AIKEN:  Do you know how many end-use customers that represents?

MR. SHORTS:  No, I do not.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Has Union imposed such a charge prior to this year?

MR. SHORTS:  Since the inception of the checkpoint, this is the first time that we've actually incurred these costs and are seeking the disposition of them.


We recognized at the time the checkpoint was in place, we realized it would be a rare occurrence.  And if you remember this past winter, that was definitely a rare occurrence.


Just going back, Mr. Aiken, that was CME No. 1, in which we had outlined the 325 customers and how much each of those would be charged based on the proposal.

MR. AIKEN:  Has Union had direct purchase customers that were below their planned BGA balances at the end of March in past years, but did not impose any charge on them?

MR. SHORTS:  We most likely did, but because this is a net number -- in other words, some customers are over and some are under -- in the past those would have balanced out.  This year, the net was just not enough to balance out.  We had approximately 275 customers that were over their March BGA balance forecasted, but the 325 who are under were under at a much greater amount.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  I am moving on to the next topic, which is the unaccounted-for gas allocation.


It is my understanding that Union proposes to add the cost of 4.729 million associated with the UFG price variance to the Union South PGVA and recovered only from system gas customers; have I got that correct?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, you do.  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, some of these questions I'm doing on behalf of VECC as well, so if you could turn to Exhibit B, VECC No. 3.


And in the preamble to that question, the last line in that preamble says:

"This has resulted in a benefit to Union South sales service customers over the past six years on average of $5.5 million per year."


So I just want some clarification on that.  Over those last six years, has the price variance been positive?  In other words, a credit to ratepayers every year?  Or has it been a credit some years and a debit others?


[Witness panel confers]


MS. ELLIOTT:  It's been a credit every year.  That information is provided in the prefiled evidence at Exhibit A, tab 1, page 10.

MR. AIKEN:  And that's what's -- you're referring to is up on the screen?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, what has caused this to flip to a debit in 2014, given the six-year track record we have?


MS. ELLIOTT:  It's actually the first time that the deferral account balances in total have been a debit.


So we've got a situation where the reference price, the selling price is less than the actual purchase cost.


That hasn't been a situation that has existed since, I think, 2001-2002.  So it is the first time we've had a receivable from customers in the cost of gas.

MR. AIKEN:  So it's really the weather conditions of this past winter that have caused this; is that right?


MS. ELLIOTT:  The pricing in the last winter, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  And has this amount always been allocated only to system gas customers?


MS. ELLIOTT:  It has, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  So if the weather -- or if things return to normal, whatever you define normal as these days, would you expect a return to credits in this account?


MS. ELLIOTT:  That would be my expectation, yes, that our pricing would go -- would revert back to the situation where we're -- our actual costs are less than our reference price.

MR. AIKEN:  So then over the long run, you would expect there to be a credit in this account for rebate to customers?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, I would.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, why does Union believe that it is appropriate to credit or debit this amount only to system gas customers?


MS. ELLIOTT:  I think we go back to past practice, and certainly it has been included in the purchase gas variance account in the past and, as you indicated, it would be our proposal to include it in the future.


We did look, I guess, at changing that methodology, as we were reviewing this.  The reality is, on a planned basis, it would be very difficult to isolate the purchase gas variances for UFG and charge them to direct purchase customers as well as system gas customers.


The current processes really don't provide for that.  And as I say, given our past practice, given the fact that it has been historically credits, taking it out at this point and changing the methodology -- which would mean changing the methodology on a go-forward basis, because it wouldn't be appropriate to isolate it as a single unique adjustment -- that we felt it would be practical to leave it where it was.

MR. AIKEN:  How are the unaccounted-for gas costs allocated now?  In other words, are -- I assume they're recovered through delivery rates, and delivery rates are the same whether you are system or direct purchase; is that correct?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct, Mr. Aiken.


UFG costs are really recovered in two ways, either in delivery rates, which we would refer to as Union-supplied fuel, or through customer-supplied fuel through fuel ratios.


So there are some customers that would provide their own compressor fuel and UFG volumes in kind, if you will.

MR. AIKEN:  And those customers are not charged for unaccounted-for gas through their delivery rates?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  But other direct purchase customers are?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Thank you.


I am turning now to the last issue, which is the average use per customer, and whether or not the storage costs and revenues should be included when calculating the balance in the average use -- sorry, in that deferral account.


And Ms. Elliott, you took us to the wording in the account earlier, and that wording is -- specifically says "gas delivery rates".  It was in one of the pages in the compendium.

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  So my question is, what do you consider to be included in "gas delivery rates", and is it the same for all rate classes?

MR. TETREAULT:  Mr. Aiken, can you repeat the question?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  The account here says, if you look at the second paragraph, third line, "included in gas delivery rates".

So my question is, what does Union consider to be included in gas delivery rates?

MR. TETREAULT:  I would consider the gas delivery rates referenced here to be just that, to be the Board-approved volumetric delivery rates for the four general service rate classes that are part of the average use calculation.

MR. AIKEN:  And so in that case it does not include the gas storage rate?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  But for other rate classes, do you split out the storage as a separate rate from the delivery rate?

MR. TETREAULT:  There are contract rate classes where storage is bundled with the delivery rate, and there are other contract rate classes, typically the semi-unbundled classes, where storage is a distinct rate.

I should point out, though, that with regard to average use, average use is, as I mentioned earlier, only related to the four general service rate classes where we have distinct storage and delivery rates.

MR. AIKEN:  And the response to Exhibit B, FRPO OGVG number 11, Union indicates that if the storage rates were included in the calculations there would be an additional $3.1 million added to the account, but that this amount would have to be reduced by the storage costs.

So my question is, can you explain to me what these storage costs would be and why they are not already included in costs being paid for by ratepayers?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The storage costs, as part of the rate design, are recovered in the storage rate.  I guess to the extent that we've got incremental revenue from an increase in average use that's storage-related, there are a number of costs that need to be considered.

Those costs include some fixed storage costs.  So as you will recall in the 2013 rate case, there's an assumption about how much storage is used for utility customers and how much storage is available for sale into the market at market prices.

On an actual basis in 2013 there was more storage used for utility customers.  So the fixed cost of that storage hasn't been recovered from utility customers.  It is part of the rate.  So it's a cost that the company incurred that is offset by the storage revenue.

There are variable costs associated with storage.  Those costs include compressor fuel.  There's the cost of unaccounted-for.  We've talked about the unaccounted-for on the delivery-rate side which isn't factored in.  We also have unaccounted-for on the storage side.

So changes in use drive increases in unaccounted-for.  They drive increases in compressor fuel.  And in addition, we've got costs in the north.  So for those of you who are familiar with the north rate design, there is also third-party storage costs that we need to consider.  Those costs are predominantly the STS costs to inject and withdraw gas from the delivery area into storage at Dawn.  We've also got costs associated with sort of the Dawn Parkway system.

So all of those costs are managed by the company in respect to additional activity that are being offset with the storage revenue that we've received from those customers.

MR. AIKEN:  You mentioned compressor -- increased compressor fuel.  Wouldn't you have the same increase just because the volumes are higher?

In other words, we're putting the delivery revenue in this account.  Wouldn't there also be incremental delivery costs?  Pushing more gas through the system?

MS. ELLIOTT:  There are.  Certainly the compressor fuel and the unaccounted-for would be variable costs associated with delivery.

The calculation of the average use deferral has really ignored those costs, but we've managed those costs when we've -- by virtue of the fact that we also have storage-related revenue.

So we've got the storage-related revenue that is in effect being used both to manage the storage -- the incremental storage costs, as well as the incremental variable costs of delivery, which are probably a relatively minor cost, but certainly on the storage side we have -- we have greater costs against that revenue.

So the average use deferral account is really a simplified calculation and is revenue only for 2013 on the delivery side.  Doesn't include cost of delivery, doesn't include cost of storage, and it doesn't include the storage revenue.

MR. AIKEN:  So my final question then, if we can go back to appendix C in the Union compendium that we were looking at before, this is the example of 2008 rate adjustments excluding base rate adjustments and Y factors.

Mr. Tetreault, you walked us through some of these calculations.  If -- in lines 19 through 23, if those volumes were higher -- in other words, if the average use was higher -- would I take it that the storage number still wouldn't change?

MR. TETREAULT:  On an actual basis?  If delivery volumes were higher than the Board-approved billing units, I would expect storage volumes would also be higher than the Board-approved billing units.

MR. AIKEN:  Then why, in this example, weren't they lower when the average use was lower?  I am just trying to get at whether the approach for storage is symmetrical.

In this case the average use was lower.  The storage units didn't change.  So if average use was higher, why would the storage units change?

MR. TETREAULT:  I'm sorry, I misunderstood your question, Mr. Aiken.  I thought you were speaking on an actual basis.

From a rate-setting standpoint, the storage billing units did not change over the last IR term in either -- regardless of whether there was an average use decline or an average use increase.  They stayed constant over the five-year IR term.

AU was focused from a rate-setting standpoint and a deferral accounting standpoint on, as Ms. Elliott said, delivery only.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions, and with your permission, Madam Chair, I will be leaving to go to the other room.

[Laughter]

MS. HARE:  Yes, thank you.

So we will take our break now and return at 11:20, and Mr. DeRose, you will start then.

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 10:59 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:17 a.m.


MS. HARE:  Please be seated.


Mr. DeRose, please proceed.

Cross-Examination by Mr. DeRose:

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Panel, almost all of my questions will be focussed on the spot gas variance account issues.  And I wanted to start at sort of a 100,000-foot level, just to establish what are the contractual obligations that a southern bundled-T customer, direct purchase customer, would have under the service terms and conditions.


First of all, your southern bundled-T direct purchase customers, are they all weather-sensitive?  Or would any of those direct purchase customers be the type of customers that are not weather-sensitive?  That would be, for instance, an industrial customer who operates 365 days a year, 24 hours a day, that type of customer?

MR. SHORTS:  The bundled direct purchase customers would cover that entire range.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So again, starting at a high level, each bundled-T customer would have an obligated DCQ or delivery contract quantity; correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, they would.

MR. DeROSE:  And the DCQ is an amount of gas that they have to deliver every day, 365 days a year?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. DeROSE:  And each of those direct purchase customers would also have a BGA or a banked gas account which would track, on a daily basis, how much gas they have delivered to Union and how much gas they have used or how much gas Union has delivered back to their location or locations; is that fair?

MR. SHORTS:  We track it on a monthly basis.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So -- but for the customers, can they not check on a daily basis?  Or is it only monthly?

MR. SHORTS:  Some customers who would have daily-read meters could do their own analysis and find out what they were up to on a particular day.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And at any given point in time, some of those customers may have a positive balance and some may have a negative balance in their BGA?  They're entitled to have both a positive and negative balance?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  Depending on how their forecasted consumption versus their forecasted DCQ, yes, that's true.

MR. DeROSE:  Right.  And so for the customers that are not weather-sensitive, is it fair that you would expect their BGA to be close to zero on a daily basis or monthly basis because they generally are using the same amount of gas on a day-by-day or week-by-week basis?

MR. SHORTS:  Again, it would depend on the manufacturing facility, if that's what it was.  They could be five days on, two days off.  It would totally depend on their forecast.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Fair enough.  For those customers that are weather-sensitive, is it fair that you would expect them to have a more -- a positive value in the warm months and either a negative or close to zero balance in the cold months?  February and March would be the months they would use the most gas?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  That would be expected.  We would expect their curve to be much more sloped, if you want to say that.

MR. DeROSE:  Under the service terms and conditions, each customer is required to achieve a BGA value of zero at the end of the contract year; correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Subject to their maximum allowable variance, yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  But they are not required to maintain a balance of zero, contractually required to maintain a balance of zero on a monthly basis?  It is only on the end of the contract year?

MR. SHORTS:  The requirement to match consumption versus deliveries is only at the end of the year.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And so they are contractually permitted to be in a negative position at any given time?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  And that's the way we would have them forecasted and the way we would show them in the plan.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And so specifically for March, those 325 direct purchase customers that were in a negative position, they were not in any way in breach of their service terms and conditions?  They were contractually allowed to do that?

MR. SHORTS:  They may not even have been in a negative position.  They would have just had an inventory lower than what the inventory that was forecast at that time.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  But they were contractually permitted to do it pursuant to your service terms and conditions?

MR. SHORTS:  There is no obligation for them to do anything further than the February 28th checkpoint.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, in terms of the February 28 checkpoint -- again, sort of setting the stage here -- there are two checkpoints; correct?  There is a fall and a winter checkpoint?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. DeROSE:  And the fall checkpoint is in September?

MR. SHORTS:  The end of September, yes.

MR. DeROSE:  And the winter checkpoint is in February?

MR. SHORTS:  End of February, yes.

MR. DeROSE:  And Mr. Aiken went through this, but you have both Union-determined customers and customer-determined -- I don't know whether it is customer-determined customers, but we will call them that, customer-determined customers.  Correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. DeROSE:  For the Union-determined customers, Union will look at where they are in February and September, and at a certain date in each of those months -- I think it is the 10th but I may be wrong and nothing turns on it, but a certain point in the month, Union is obligated to tell those customers if they have to go out and purchase more gas before the end of the month; is that correct?

MR. SHORTS:  That would be for the February 28th checkpoint, because on February 28th you just can't be below your February 28th contracted checkpoint.


The October -- or the end of September checkpoint, you can't be above the amount that's in there.  So we actually may, in September, require customers to actually shed some gas to get below their September 30th checkpoint.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And the only difference between the customer-determined customers and the Union-determined is who undertakes the assessment at the beginning of the checkpoint month?

MR. SHORTS:  So for the Union-determined --

MR. DeROSE:  Yes?

MR. SHORTS:  -- Union would alert the customers.  And I will use February as the example.  Union alerted those customers based upon the information we had at the time of their forecast, as well as the forecasted weather.  We would have made an assessment of how much gas each one of those customers needed to bring in as a Union-determined customer.


They, then, had an obligation to do that activity.  So for example, if we had instructed them to bring in 5,000 gJs –-

MR. DeROSE:  Yes?

MR. SHORTS:  -- and they did not bring in the 5,000 gJs, then they wouldn't have met their checkpoint obligation.  Regardless of whether or not they actually consumed 6,000 gJs in that period, it was the 5,000 gJs that they were obligated to act upon, as a Union-determined.

MR. DeROSE:  Correct.  And failure to do that would lead to a penalty?

MR. SHORTS:  That's correct.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And for the customer-determined customers, does Union have any right to check their assessment, to check their determination in advance, to make sure that their determinations are correct and that they're bring going to bring in enough gas by the end of February?

MR. SHORTS:  No.  For those customers, they have the obligation to monitor it themselves and to ensure that they do not go below, in February, their February 28th checkpoint.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.

MR. SHORTS:  Or they would be subject to that charge.

MR. DeROSE:  Fair enough.  Now, in terms of the 325 customers that are potentially going to be allocated the amount of money that Union has purchased for gas in March, those 325 customers, can you tell us were they Union-determined or were they customer-determined, or was it a combination of the two?

MR. SHORTS:  They would be -- they would be both.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And the fact that you had to go out and buy gas in March in light of the February checkpoint, is that an indication that your forecasting model -- or that you somehow made a mistake in February, that you should have required your customers to go out and buy more in February?

MR. SHORTS:  No.  Again, we were just balancing -- the February 28th checkpoint is just to make sure that those customers don't go below their February 28th checkpoint.


It does not, at that point in time, contemplate us doing incremental activity to have them bring in extra gas that would supplement them through the month of March.

MR. DeROSE:  Now, in terms of the 325 bundled direct purchase customers that were below their planned March 31 BGA position -- so these are the 325 that you were proposing be allocated the load-balancing costs -- first of all, did I understand right -– and I just want to clarify with Mr. Aiken -- that the notice that this could occur, that they could be allocated this or would be allocated this, was communicated some time in or around May of --

MR. SHORTS:  The first official notice would have been at customer meetings that commenced in May.

MR. DeROSE:  So that is already two months past the point.  It is not really notice that they can do anything about it?  That is just more of a heads-up that this is coming your way?

MR. SHORTS:  And as I mentioned before, giving them the prior notice, I'm not sure that it would have had any impact, because there is no obligation, contractually, for those customers to deliver the incremental gas in March, and the actual gas cost for spot, average in March, was much higher than the average that we used to calculate the summer-winter differential.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  I could not find anywhere in the service terms any type of communication that bundled customers -- if they were below their planned March 31 BGA position -- could potentially be allocated, just those customers, allocated load balancing costs.


Is there -- is that proposition, that a select few customers who are below their March 31 BGA position, that only those customers would be allocated load balancing costs, is that written in any service terms and conditions, has it ever been communicated to clients or to your customers?

MR. SHORTS:  If you recall when I answered earlier, we don't particularly have a specific example of the wording, although there is in the general terms and conditions reference to the OEB or the Board being able to make -- make a judgment or a ruling that would override that.


Again, this falls in the same category of "all deferral accounts" that we would allocate to bundled direct purchase customers.  We don't stipulate or show those or set those apart in the general terms and conditions specifically or the contracts.

MR. DeROSE:  Well, let me rephrase it then.  The Board always has the power on variance accounts.


If I'm a bundled direct purchase customer, I know, for instance, with the February checkpoint if I don't meet it I'm going to face a penalty.  That's something that is communicated to them, correct?

MR. SHORTS:  That's correct.

MR. DeROSE:  Is it fair that, if I am a bundled southern direct purchase customer, this past March I would not have known that potentially the load balancing costs were going to be allocated to me and to only me and my other customers who were below my March BGA?

MR. SHORTS:  Recall, we have not had to dispose of these incremental costs since checkpoint has come into play. So this is new territory, but it's not new from the perspective of, we had addressed this back originally when the checkpoints were set, and we had proposed the March park.


We also addressed it in the 2008 QRAM proceeding, and we are following the exact same process that we outlined in that proceeding, if we had incurred incremental direct purchase or incremental costs to balance those direct purchase customers.

MR. DeROSE:  So is the answer, no, I wouldn't know?  I mean, I guess unless I was a direct purchase customer that was back looking at the March park that was not approved by the Board and thought somehow that would be approved?

MR. SHORTS:  If a direct purchase customer had an agent that was tracking the regulatory proceedings, they should have known about it from that perspective.

MR. DeROSE:  From a QRAM – from a single QRAM application in 2008?  Six years ago?

MR. SHORTS:  Not just the QRAM, but when we filed the March -- the April 1 QRAM of this year, we also stipulated that these costs were incurred and we would be proposing for disposition at this 2013 deferral hearing.

MR. DeROSE:  But you did not state in that application that you would only be allocating it to those below the March amount?

MR. SHORTS:  No, that's correct.  We did not stipulate how we were going to allocate those costs.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And so, again, as a direct purchase customer you wouldn't know that if you were one of 325, it was going to be allocated only to the 325 or, put another way, that if I -- if I was above my planned March 31 BGA position, that I wouldn't be exposed to these additional incremental costs.  Direct purchase customers would not have known that.

MR. SHORTS:  I would say direct purchase customers would not have known that, but if we did not dispose of the costs in the way in which we have proposed, say for example when we dispose of them to the sales service customers, we would essentially have a subsidy where the direct purchase customers in Union South would be benefiting to the expense of the sales service customers.

MR. DeROSE:  In terms of the allocation to only customers that are below a planned BGA position at any point in time, you've mentioned the mark -- the March park.  Can you just describe what the March park proposal was?

MR. SHORTS:  Back when we were proposing the checkpoint, we did contemplate that there could be scenarios -- like we have just had -- where there could be incremental requirements post the February 28th checkpoint in which there was colder than normal weather and increased consumption by bundled direct purchase customers.


What we had proposed back in that hearing was to actually purchase a March park and embed those costs in customers’ rates, and a March park is basically an agreement where we would have a supplier actually for a short period of time, the month of March, maintain a certain volume of gas on the Union system every March and then be required to take that gas off the system post March 31 to allow for the direct purchase customers to redeliver any volumes that they were short before their contract year ended.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And that was not approved by the Board?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.  The Board felt that an insurance policy that was paid for consistently was not in the best interests, in that if costs were incurred it would be best to come forth and ask for the disposition then, which is what we're doing now.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  In terms of your approved rate allocation model, is there anywhere in your, either rate allocation model or in prior Board decisions that have looked at rate allocation, a situation where you were allocating it to only a set group of customers such as you are in this case, 325, on something that they are not contractually obligated to undertake?


Have you found anything akin to this or closely equivalent to what you are proposing?

MR. TETREAULT:  I think, Mr. DeRose, that the closest thing I can think of would just be the principle of cost causality itself.


So nothing particular to rate design, but our proposal here to recover the load balancing costs from a select group of direct purchase customers is based on a cost causality principle that is embedded in our cost-allocation methodologies.


These 325 customers are the ones that caused us to buy the spot gas we have purchased.  So it would seem appropriate, in my mind, to have them bear the cost associated with the purchase on their behalf.

MR. DeROSE:  Now, in terms of those 325 customers, under the contractual provisions of their rate, they would be entitled to bring themself on-side of the BGA position that they were under in March before the contract year.  Anytime they chose they could purchase more gas to bring themself into line.  Is that fair?  They could pick what month they want to do it?

MR. SHORTS:  The customer would have to determine what month was best suited to them, but they would have to ensure that they were in balance, subject to their maximum allowable variance, at the end of their contract term in that year.


So they could deliver incremental gas or, if they had the capability, they could dial back on their consumption as well, to balance.

MR. DeROSE:  But they would elect to do that.  That is not something you would elect to impose on them.

MR. SHORTS:  No, we would not – at the end of that contract term, if they failed to balance at the end of that contract term, they would then be subject to -- if they were under they would be subject to that rate R1 inventory charge, and if they were over they would be subject to an umauthorized storage overrun.

MR. DeROSE:  Now, switching gears slightly, just in terms of why you were seeking recovery for 2014 costs against these 325 customers in a 2013 clearance application, is it not fair to say that -- or would you agree with me that direct purchase customers have an obligation to balance to zero at the end of the year, and so these customers, while their positions -- their planned March 31 BGA position may have been -- they may have been below at the end of March, it is reasonable to assume that some or all of them would bring themself into balance in accordance with the contract by the end of the year.

MR. SHORTS:  That would be our assumption, they would.

MR. DeROSE:  And if that's the case, why would you not be allowing the Board to assess the proper allocation, the costs actually incurred by direct purchase customers in 2014 at the end of the contractual year so you can actually see what has occurred since March to the end of the contract year?


MR. SHORTS:  Again, recall we needed to have the incremental volumes on the system prior to March 31.


We're not actually selling or transferring these molecules to these customers; we're simply recovering the cost of those customers' borrowing the sales service inventory for the month of March, which will ultimately get paid back.  That's why they're only being charged the differential, which is the 2.44, versus the entire cost which is the 7.12.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you very much.


With respect to the incremental gas that you had to purchase in March, as I understand your evidence of this morning, you were required to transfer part of your system gas inventory from sales service customers to some direct purchase customers in February when those February -- when those direct purchase customers did not meet their checkpoint balancing?


MR. SHORTS:  That's correct.  Those volumes would be moved from the inventory of the sales service to those particular customers' BGAs.

MR. DeROSE:  Had those customers, in February, the direct purchase customers, had everyone balanced -- so had there been no penalties, had the February checkpoint come in 100 percent of what it should have been, so that there was no transfer of system gas inventory from sales service to direct purchase customers in February -- would you still have required a purchase of gas in March?

MR. SHORTS:  Potentially.  If there was incremental gas consumption in March, as well as -- as I mentioned before -- for the Union-determined customers, they could have had incremental consumption, and they did, after we had set their checkpoint activity.


So if we had instructed a customer to bring in 5,000 gJs, based upon our information, that was their obligation, to bring in 5,000 gJs.


If, when we got the actual information back, they had consumed 6,000 gJs, we would have had to have bought that thousand gJs and rolled it into this 0.8 pJ of recovery.


MR. DeROSE:  Let me rephrase the question, then.  As I understand it, you had to transfer system gas to certain direct purchase customers who did not meet their February checkpoint in February; correct?

MR. SHORTS:  That's correct.


MR. DeROSE:  And I also understand from what you said this morning that when you transfer that gas from system to direct purchase customers -- these are the customers that have been penalized?  We're on the same page, right?


MR. SHORTS:  Customers that did not meet their checkpoint

MR. DeROSE:  Correct.  That you did not immediately go out and purchase gas to replace the system gas?

MR. SHORTS:  We manage the needs of the system and the bundled direct purchase load balancing in aggregate.  So we did not particularly go out and say, you know:  We need to now match this to that, because we had already purchased, prior to the February 28th checkpoint, an amount of gas that we had at that point in time figured we were going to need to get us through to the end of March.


MR. DeROSE:  Right.  And so I guess my question really is this.  Had all customers balanced -- met the February checkpoint, would you still have been under the 6 pJs?

MR. SHORTS:  If customers had met their February 28th checkpoint -- again, what I had described about the Union-determined customers –-

MR. DeROSE:  Yes?


MR. SHORTS:  -- they could have definitely drove us to buy incremental gas.  And if we hadn't bought it, we would have eaten into the 0.6 -- or the 6 pJs of integrity, I should say.  And incremental consumption in March, had we not purchased gas to cover that, we would have also potentially eaten into the 6 pJs of integrity space at the end of March.

MR. DeROSE:  Well, let me tell you what my concern is.


My concern is that -- first of all, do you know if any of those 325 customers are also subject to penalties arising out of February?  Do you know how many of the 325 customers did not meet their February checkpoint?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, we have -- we answered in our compendium how many customers did not meet the February 28 checkpoint.

MR. DeROSE:  My concern is actually that you have 325 customers that may very well have all met their February checkpoint, and now you're allocating incremental costs that you have gone out and purchased, in part because you transferred sales service gas in February to other direct purchase customers who didn't meet their checkpoint balance.


So as a direct purchase customer, I may be in a situation where I went out and purchased gas in February.  I met all of my contractual requirements.  And now -- now I am being allocated an incremental purchase of gas that is in part driven not by my behaviour, but by the behaviour of a direct purchase customer who did not meet their February checkpoint.


Are my concerns in any way valid?  Or am I missing something?

MR. SHORTS:  I mean, customers could very well have been allocated costs that balance to their February 28 checkpoint.


We have many instances where deferral accounts are allocated to direct purchase customers in which there is no contractual wording that says that those would be allocated to those customers.

I had also mentioned that customers who proactively -- maybe even by luck -- may have purchased incremental gas in March and therefore avoided -- would avoid this cost, may have actually incurred a cost much higher, because the average spot gas cost in March was $12 versus the $7 and change that was the average of our purchases.

MR. DeROSE:  I'm sorry.  Mr. Smith has just handed me something.


Could I just have you turn up Exhibit B, CME 1, page 2 of 3?  And you will see in sub (b) -- I'm sorry, panel, do you have that there?  Do you have it up?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.


MR. DeROSE:  You will see that you have quoted -- in (b) you have quoted your answer to a Staff IR in the checkpoint balancing proceeding.

And you say -- you're talking about what happens when a customer fails to meet its contractual checkpoint, and you say:

"These situations create a shortage for the distribution system as a whole, which must be managed by Union within all of the other commodity purchases Union is making for its system."


And if we just stop there, was the gas purchase that you made in March a commodity purchase that you were making for your entire system?  It was for system integrity, was it not?

MR. SHORTS:  Sorry, let's make sure we're talking about the same thing.  When you say the system purchase in March, are you referring to the incremental 0.4 pJs I had mentioned earlier?  Or are you referring to purchases that we made in February for delivery in March?


I just want to be clear.

MR. DeROSE:  Well, I am actually referring to the 1.8 million of spot gas costs.

MR. SHORTS:  So that was deliveries that we arranged for in February for March.


MR. DeROSE:  Mm-hmm?  And was that not for system integrity?


MR. SHORTS:  That was for -- that was to maintain and ensure that we would have 6 pJs of integrity space left over at March 31.


We managed to that lower threshold of zero plus 6, to ensure that if we do have an unforecasted or unforeseen incident, that we will be able to cover that off.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And that's for the benefit of the entire system, that 6 pJs; correct?

MR. SHORTS:  The 6 pJs is there for the benefit of the entire system.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.

MR. SHORTS:  See, you have to recall we manage many different moving pieces throughout the year.


MR. DeROSE:  I was about to say those are all of my questions, but you can go on if you'd like.


MR. SHORTS:  No, I'm fine.


[Laughter]


MR. DeROSE:  Thank you very much, Panel.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.


Mr. Crane, please proceed.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Crane:


MR. CRANE:  Thank you.


Good afternoon, panel.  Mark Crane on behalf of IGUA.

Mr. Shorts, a number of times this morning you made reference to the evidence that was filed in the QRAM proceeding in 2008, and I just want to take us there.  I should staff off by saying the majority of my questions are going to focus on the spot gas variance account with respect to the load-balancing costs.


An excerpt of what I would like to take a look at can be found in the interrogatories.  I've got the whole proceeding here, but if you can pull it up at Exhibit FRPO OGVG 5.  That would be attachment 1.  But I would like to consider different portions of that proceeding, but I take it -- am I correct, Mr. Shorts, that you have referred to having given notice or this issue having come up in the past in the QRAM proceeding?


If I look on page 46 or beginning on page 45 towards the bottom of the page under the heading "load balancing costs not included in rates", and it reads:

"Under normal weather conditions, it is unlikely Union would incur any costs associated with balancing BT customers.  Union will only incur costs if it must take action outside of the checkpoints on behalf of BT customers."


Then carrying over to the following page, it states:

"If Union is forced to take action and by doing so incurs load balancing costs, Union will seek to recover these costs as part of the disposition of the deferral accounts."


It goes on from there.


Is it fair to say that this is the notice that you say was provided as to the methodology that would be used by Union?

MR. SHORTS:  This is just one example -- this is just one example.  I had mentioned the previous original hearing in which the checkpoints and the load balancing were agreed to back in, I believe it was '03.  We have also outlined, I believe even in our main rate cases, that we do have an obligation to load balance direct purchase customers post the February 28 checkpoint, and we may have even covered it off in our gas supply memorandum that we presented this past year.

MR. CRANE:  Okay.  Well, I am referring to the evidence you have provided and, frankly, what you'd provided up until now.  I take it you would agree with me, though, that the evidence as it exists in the QRAM application doesn't make reference to, as Mr. DeRose pointed out, from whom you would be recovering the costs from, the allocation?

MR. SHORTS:  No, it does not.

MR. CRANE:  Nor does it make reference to whether notice would or would not be provided, correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. CRANE:  And if -- I hope we're able to do this.  If we can back up a number of pages.  And in fact, it may have been in Mr. Quinn's compendium, if I can locate that, in the same proceeding, on page 42 of the proceeding from 2008, and if we go towards the bottom of the page --

MR. QUINN:  Mr. Crane, sorry to interrupt.  I am not sure that has been put on the record yet, and I just want to make sure.  I've made copies for the Panel, but they may not have them in front of them.


MS. HARE:  We don't have them.  Actually, I thought you misspoke, meant Mr. Aiken's compendium, because that's the only one we've received.

MR. CRANE:  I'm sorry.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, we do have Mr. Quinn's compendium here, and I will bring copies to the Panel, but we will mark it now as Exhibit K1.3.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  FRPO'S CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM.

MR. CRANE:  Thank you, Mr. Quinn.


--- Mr. Millar passes up document.


MS. HARE:  Thanks.

MR. CRANE:  Panel, I am on page 1 of that compendium, which is page 42 of 72 of the QRAM proceeding.

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, we have that.

MR. CRANE:  And beginning in the middle of the page it talks about some -- a number of business principles that Union was guided by when it was developing its checkpoint mechanisms.  Do you see those?

MR. SHORTS:  I do.

MR. CRANE:  And they include, amongst others, that the solutions should be based on fairness and equity.  First bullet, "to be fair and equitable treatment of all customers"?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. CRANE:  Following towards the bottom of the page, third one from the bottom, "the solution needs to limit the need for retroactive adjustments", correct?

MR. SHORTS:  I see that, yes.

MR. CRANE:  I take it, is it fair to say that these same principles apply as they did in 2008, they continue to apply today?

MR. SHORTS:  They do, and if you recall, this is the first time that we have had to do this in ten years since the checkpoint has come into play.  So I would say we certainly have limited the need for retroactive adjustments.

MR. CRANE:  And I take it you'd agree with me that the February and the September checkpoint, the contractual checkpoints, those are fair to the customers and to Union because they're expressly set out in the schedule to the contract, correct?

MR. SHORTS:  They're expressly set out in the schedules to the contracts, and they allow us to manage the system in aggregate, assuming the customers will hit those targets or not exceed those targets.

MR. CRANE:  Okay.  And it may be helpful just for us, for the purposes of the record, to file Schedule 1 to the southern bundled-T contract.  I don't think it forms part of the record at present.

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, that will be Exhibit K1.4.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  SCHEDULE 1 TO THE SOUTHERN BUNDLED-T CONTRACT.

MR. SMITH:  I don't object to the filing of the contract, obviously, but the contract also includes a number of other items, including the general terms and conditions which Mr. Shorts has referred to a number of times, which includes the Board's authority provision, and it probably makes sense to include that as well.


So I can certainly get a copy of the terms and conditions made available to be filed if my friend doesn't have a copy.

MR. CRANE:  I do have a copy of the terms and conditions, and I am content -- I don't have copies for the Panel and my friends, but I wasn't planning to enter it as an exhibit.  But I would support Mr. Crawford --

MR. SMITH:  Smith.

MR. CRANE:  -- Smith's recommendation.

MR. SMITH:  I was waiting for the Mr. Crawford.  There is one in every proceeding, and I didn't want the opportunity to pass.

MR. CRANE:  It was awfully close.

[Laughter]

MR. MILLAR:  Well, I have copies of Schedule 1, which I will bring to the Panel now, and I guess we will get the rest of the terms and conditions.

MR. CRANE:  Thank you.


MS. HARE:  So this is K1.4?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. CRANE:  You have got the document, panel?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. CRANE:  You will see on -- at the top it goes through dates in section 1, DCQ under section 2, the maximum BGA balances on 3, and then on the second page we get to checkpoint balancing parameters, and that is where it expressly sets out the checkpoint dates for customers of September 30th and February 28th or 29th, correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. CRANE:  And this was covered off by Mr. DeRose quite well, but just for the sake of completion, there is no reference to a March balancing requirement in Schedule 1, correct?

MR. SHORTS:  There is not.

MR. CRANE:  And there is no reference to -- indirectly or directly to, there may be a requirement to balance to Union's control points that you discussed earlier this morning?

MR. SHORTS:  There is no requirement post the February 28th checkpoint covered in the contract, as stipulated, although Union has to manage the entire system to ensure that we maintain the system integrity volumes right through to the end of March and beyond.

MR. CRANE:  And I think in Mr. Aiken's -- during his cross-examination of the panel he asked you whether you either had intended to make changes or whether you had made any changes to the contract.  I can't recall which one.


Do you not think it would be prudent -- moving forward -- to make reference to Union's balancing control points within the schedules?

MR. SHORTS:  Again, it's not a requirement of the customers.  Much like any other deferral account that we would seek disposition of, we would not necessarily have to include it within the contract.  We would leave that up to the discretion of the Board and an order of the Board, as is stipulated in the general terms and conditions.

MR. CRANE:  Okay.  Well, do you think it would fall within the arena of fairness and equity to make reference to the potential for a balancing requirement of March 31st in addition to February 28th?

MR. SHORTS:  I would suspect that, had we not had the coldest winter in 50 years, we may not be having this discussion at all, but the question is, where would you draw the line?  Would we include all the other scenarios where we may have deferral accounts that would be disposed of to bundled direct purchase customers?  Where would you draw the line as to what to include and where not to include it?

MR. CRANE:  I appreciate the response; I am not sure I got a response to my question.


So my question was:  Do you think it would be prudent and would it fall within the arena of fairness to include Union's control points of October and March?

MR. SHORTS:  I'm not sure to what end including Union's control points within this contract would be.


We would have no obligation for the customer to take any specific action in relation to Union's control points.

MR. CRANE:  Well, I guess the notice -- perhaps we can do it this way.


If we can go back to Mr. Quinn's compendium, and on page 43 of 72 of -- on page 2 of his compendium -- and just to calibrate ourselves, we're talking about the business principles that we have spent some time now talking about.


And at the top paragraph of that page there is a reference from the Board's findings from its decision in March of 2004, where it says in part, beginning on about the fourth line:

"It is appropriate and equitable for them..."


"Them" being direct purchase customers:

"... to have an enhanced and better informed opportunity to track and manage their position at the two critical periods in the year."


Perhaps I will start at the top, in fact:

"The notable virtue of the applicant's proposal is that it places the responsibility for balancing costs with the direct purchase customers.  The proposal is also consistent with the direct purchase customers acting as managers for their respective gas supply requirements."


And I take it -- following up on my last question and answer with you -- would it not be consistent with the Board's findings that making this disclosure known to direct purchase customers would be consistent with allowing direct purchase customers acting as managers for their respective gas supply requirements?

MR. SHORTS:  As I had mentioned previously, giving the incremental notice or added notice I'm not sure would have created any change in behaviour, because the cost of the customers to actually balance in March would have been significantly higher than the costs that Union is proposing to allocate to them in this proceeding, based upon the average spot gas price for March that they would have incurred had they gone to the market and purchased that supply themselves.

MR. CRANE:  But if we -- thank you for that response.  That's helpful.


If we take a moment, though, I think -- am I correct, though, that notice could have been provided to direct purchase customers as early as January, having regard to Union's evidence as to when it began purchasing gas for the purpose -- you know, spot gas for this purpose?

MR. SHORTS:  Again, we assume -- right up until the end of February we are assuming that all customers meet their contractual checkpoint obligation.  And at that point in time, we did not add incremental volume to their requirements to handle any March consumption that may have come about because of the longer winter and the forecasted colder than normal weather.

MR. CRANE:  Well, if we take a look at page 3 of Mr. Quinn's compendium, just for some assistance, and looking at table 1, which Union has referred to in some of its answers to interrogatories, am I correct that beginning in January -- if I look at line number 7 -- beginning in January, Union is going out and purchasing spot purchases for delivery up to the end of March 31st?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.  Union had a forecast for the sales service customer bucket that would have said that it required incremental capacity or gas supply to meet the needs to the end of March.


At that point in time, we also did not know any incremental change or activity due to the February 28th checkpoint, because we hadn't even notified customers at that point in time of the February 28th checkpoint requirement.

MR. CRANE:  But if I take a look at the preceding page in that evidence -- and I'm not sure that was in Mr. Quinn's compendium, but I do have it here.  Are we able to pull up that evidence?  It may have been one of the pages I had provided to you this morning.


It would be page 5 of 21, from tab 1 of EB-2014-0050.
Oh, thank you.


So towards the bottom of the page -- and I want to calibrate this with the chart we were just looking at, but it says:

"As of March 1, 2014 Union purchased a total of 29.8 pJs of incremental spot gas landing at Dawn up to the end of March."


Then you provide why the gas was purchased, and going down to the third reason:

"For forecast weather variances relative to the February 28th inventory checkpoint and forecast March weather and consumption variances for Union South bundled DP customers".


So turning now to the following page, on page 6, which gives us the table, are you not purchasing gas, frankly, beginning in December to address, at least in part, why the gas was purchased, the reasoning why you purchased the gas as referenced on the preceding page?

MR. SHORTS:  Not for the direct purchase customers.  We did not start purchasing any gas on the account of direct purchase customers until February 21st.

MR. CRANE:  Okay.  So was February 21st, then, the bookend as to when notice could have been provided to those direct purchase customers?

MR. SHORTS:  On February 21st, we made that -- we made that purchase decision, again, based upon our expectation of what was about to happen, knowing that, in retroactive adjustments, we would have to fix that to actuals.  So we would have to reconcile that number to actuals.


So we could have potentially said to customers:  We are going out and purchasing a portion of 1.8, of which we don't know at this time exactly how much is going to be allocated to -- potentially to direct purchase customers for incremental consumption in March.


Again, we did not know at that point in time how much we actually had to supply for each individual market, but we knew in aggregate how much we needed.


The 1.8 here just happens to coincidentally coincide with 1.8 that we had filed in the hearing as being the amount required for the direct purchase customers, which subsequently, based upon actuals, was brought down to 0.8 pJs.

MR. CRANE:  So let me re-circle on my question.


Am I correct, then, that February 21st was when communication could have been sent to southern bundled-T DP customers?

MR. SHORTS:  We could have -- we could have communicated to those customers that there was the potential for some amount of gas that they would be allocated costs of at the end of March.


We wouldn't know at that point in time exactly how much, because at that point in time, when we filed the QRAM for April 1, we had actually expected that number to be 1.8, but when the actuals came in it was 0.8.


When the actuals came in, that number could have been zero.  And at that point in time, we would have given notice for no reason.

MR. CRANE:  Well, you described it this morning as a "foreseen event."  Do you recall giving that evidence?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, it was definitely foreseen that there was going to be some incremental consumption.


I mean, we knew, for example, that weather was continuing to be forecasted colder, and colder than normal.  And therefore we knew that bundled direct purchase customers were likely going to consume more in March than what their contractual DCQs would deliver.

MR. CRANE:  And had Union given notice at or around that date in February, would that not be consistent with direct purchase customers acting as managers of their respective gas supply requirements?

MR. SHORTS:  Again, we could have provided notice to customers at that point in time, not knowing what end that would be, because, again, gas prices at that time were very, very high and much higher than the weighted average that we had already worked into our calculations.

MR. CRANE:  Well, I suppose if you had given notice or if it was referenced in the contract -- and I understand that -- your evidence as to the circumstances or the unique circumstances, but it would have been within a -- had notice been given, either within the contract or at its earliest opportunity when Union began purchasing spot gas for that purpose, that they could have -- had it been within the contract, then they may have managed their affairs to have accounted for a potential March 31st balancing requirement?  Correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Post-February 21st we could have provided notice to those customers, and they could have potentially gone out and purchased gas on their own to ensure that they did not have a March 31 balance that was lower than what was forecasted.


But again, there is no requirement in the contract for them to do so.  And given the costs that we were seeing in the marketplace, the expectation was, no one would do that if there was no requirement to do so and/or if there was no penalty particularly outlined for them not doing it.

MR. CRANE:  Okay.  And notice was provided -- written notice was provided in June through the Enerline report and one other report.  How often does Union circulate Enerline reports?

MR. SHORTS:  I honestly don't know the frequency of when Enerline's and Factsline's go out.

MR. CRANE:  Do you have a sense of whether it is daily or monthly or quarterly?

MR. SHORTS:  I would be guessing.  I don't know.

MR. CRANE:  Anyone else on the panel?


MS. ELLIOTT:  It's not daily.

MR. CRANE:  Okay.  And do you have any --


MS. HARE:  If this is important to you, Mr. Crane, why not ask for an undertaking?  I am sure the information is available.

MR. CRANE:  Sure.  Can we get an undertaking then of the frequency of the Enerline reports?  And if it's not a set period of time, then the volume of distribution in 2014?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we can do that.

MR. MILLAR:  J1.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  TO PROVIDE THE FREQUENCY OF THE ENERLINE REPORTS AND, IF IT'S NOT A SET PERIOD OF TIME, THEN THE VOLUME OF DISTRIBUTION IN 2014.

MR. CRANE:  And you made reference a number of times that you began speaking with customers in customer meetings in May.


Am I correct that you wouldn't have spoken to all 325 customers in May?

MR. SHORTS:  I would suspect not all 325 would have either been at the customer meetings or represented at the customer meetings.

MR. CRANE:  So then is it fair to say that the first actual notice to the entire class was on June 19th, when the Enerline report was circulated?

MR. SHORTS:  Again, I don't know particularly if there were any conversations between the individual sales representatives and those customers.  So there could have been incremental conversations by each individual Union Gas sales rep to each of those customers or each of those contracts.  I don't know that.

MR. CRANE:  But that's not -- the evidence we have to date is that there were meetings that occurred in May, and then the written notice in June.  Correct?

MR. SHORTS:  That's correct.

MR. CRANE:  And the written notice in June identifies this issue on page 2 of the report?  Is that correct?  If you can bring it up.  Bear with me.


I believe it is Exhibit B, CME.1, attachment 1.  If we scroll -- so this is page 1 of 2.  If we scroll to the second page, and there it is towards the top of the second page, under the heading "Union South bundled direct purchase customers".  Is that the notice that Union is referring to in its interrogatories?

MR. SHORTS:  That would be the Factsline and Enerline communications, yes.

MR. CRANE:  So I guess if we look at the goal posts as to when notice could have been given and when notice was given to the entire class, we're looking at a time period from in and around February 21st, 2014 through to June 19th, 2014.  Correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. CRANE:  Would you agree with me that waiting this long wasn't ideal?

MR. SHORTS:  Again, not sure what incremental notification would have resulted in any action, but say for example for those 100 customers that are getting a charge of less than a thousand dollars, then, yes, I suspect that we could have probably communicated a little earlier.

MR. CRANE:  So it was not ideal then?

MR. SHORTS:  In hindsight it was probably not ideal.

MR. CRANE:  Would you agree that it wasn't fair?

MR. SHORTS:  I would say by not charging them would not be fair, because what we have done is we have incurred costs for load balancing and we have covered those off for the account of Union South sales service, Union North sales service, and the Union North direct purchase customers.


And therefore, by not passing these costs on to these customers, I would say that would not be fair.

MR. CRANE:  And how does that reconcile with the notice period, though?  What you have just described to me I don't think answers the question as to when notice could have been provided.

MR. SHORTS:  Again, I don't see any requirement in the contract for Union to provide the notice either.  But we did provide the notice when we -- when we did, and could we have provided it earlier?  I have already said, yes, we could have provided it earlier.  I am just not sure that providing that earlier notification would have resulted in any different outcome or any incremental action by the direct purchase customers.

MR. CRANE:  But I guess you don't know that one way or the other.


MS. HARE:  Mr. Crane, I think that he has answered you at least five times.

MR. CRANE:  Okay, I will move on.  Thank you.


A few questions about the allocation methodology.


I understood from the evidence this morning that the -- if I understand the mechanics of what occurred, is that there was a transfer of system gas to address the deficiency in the balancing amongst the direct purchasers as of the checkpoint on February 28th.


Do I understand that correctly?

MR. TETREAULT:  Mr. Crane, for the -- for the customers who are not compliant with the February 28th checkpoint, there was a sale of gas from system inventory to their respective BGAs.

MR. CRANE:  Thank you.  And I take it that the framework for Union's proposal to allocate the penalties that may arise out of the balancing checkpoint proceeding to be allocated to system customers is to account for that sale of gas.  Is that correct?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MR. CRANE:  And do you have -- is Union able to provide the cost associated with the sale of that specific gas?


MS. ELLIOTT:  The way we record that sale is to record the revenue from the gas sale at the Board-approved reference price, which in February was I think $5.56 a gJ, and relieve the inventory for that gas.


The differential between the $78 that we billed and the $5 and change that we recorded is the credit into the deferral account.  The actual cost of gas purchased over the winter is the combination of the spot gas purchases, which were averaging, I think, in the 7 to $8 range and the -- any charges that are in the South PGVA account, which, I don't have the average cost handy for that.


So the actual cost of gas purchased is captured in the South PGVA and in the spot gas deferral.  And so the differential between the reference price and the penalty charge is credited into those accounts.

MR. CRANE:  So am I -- do I understand it correctly?  Could there be a difference between what costs system supply customers incurred and what contribution or benefit they will receive from the penalty that will exceed the cost associated with transferring that gas to reconcile those DP customers that weren't in balance as at February 28th?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.  And in this case that's absolutely true.  We sold the gas.  The bills went out at $78.  That price is the subject of the checkpoint balancing hearing.  The cost of the inventory was nowhere near that price.

MR. CRANE:  So would this result, then, in a windfall for system select customers?

MS. ELLIOTT:  It results in a credit that goes back to reduce their costs.

MR. CRANE:  Okay.  So am I correct that it would amount to a cross-subsidy?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I don't believe it amounts to a cross-subsidy.  Someone has to get the benefit of the penalty.  The customers that failed to balance did not incur those costs themselves, where other customers who did balance did incur costs directly.


So the penalty charge is to deal with the failure to comply, and the benefit of that, to the extent that it exceeds the cost, is allocated back to the system supply customers.

MR. CRANE:  Okay.  And to the extent -- if the Board concludes that Union is not entitled to recover the $1.8 million from those southern bundled DP customers who are out of balance as of March 31st, would you agree with me that one reasonable alternative may be for those penalties collected by Union in the balancing checkpoint proceeding be used to offset Union's spot gas purchases that were made on behalf of Union South bundled DP customers for the March 31st control period?

To the extent that it is what we were just talking about, the additional benefit beyond what was incurred by the system supply customers?

MS. ELLIOTT:  If you're asking if we can set off the cost incurred for load balancing against the revenue collected on the penalties, mechanically that is a possible outcome, yes.

MR. CRANE:  And would you agree with me that it is a reasonable alternative?

MS. ELLIOTT:  It is certainly an option in this case, because we have the situation where the penalties are greater than the cost.  It wouldn't necessarily be a sustainable approach to this.


Customers who we buy gas for to balance, need to bear the cost of those balancing -- that balancing.

MR. CRANE:  Those are my questions.  Thank you.  Thank you, Panel.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

Procedural Matters:


Mr. Millar, were you able to contact CCC and VECC about the wording in the settlement agreement?

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, in fact as I looked at the settlement agreement, there are other parties who are signatories to it, and over the break I actually don't know who all the representatives were for that.


I expect this is something that could be cleared up over the afternoon today when we're not sitting and hopefully it could be finalized tomorrow morning, but I wasn't able to get them over the break.


MS. HARE:  That's fine.  If you could try to do so today.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.


MS. HARE:  Mr. Quinn, you are aware of the issue that was raised?

MR. QUINN:  Yes.  Thank you.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.  So we will break, then, until –- oh, I'm sorry.


MR. QUINN:  Sorry, Madam Chair.  I wanted to handle this appropriately.  And I didn't have my compendium in front of you at that point, so I deferred.


Now that it is in front of you, Mr. Smith attempted to provide responses by way of having questions answered in-chief.


MS. HARE:  Yes.


MR. QUINN:  I have to ask that one -- the response to the middle paragraph is not responsive to our concerns, and would like to ask for the opportunity for Union to answer the question.  As simple as I can put it, instead of using the word "target" in -- and I want to say up front.  If you turn to FRPO OGVG 2 -- not 11, as it says here.  That is my mistake.  Union is familiar with this interrogatory response, and they responded to it in part in their response.


We had asked for the targeted and actual percentage fill.  Union says they don't have a target for some respective months between October and March, but they have a forecast.


We would like to have them substitute the word "target" with "forecast" and complete the percentages for each of the respective months.


I am wondering, Mr. Smith, if that would help us overcome this difference in wording and what we would like to know?

MR. SMITH:  No problem.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.


MR. QUINN:  And I want to be very specific.  The October 31st fill is a target, and so we want to have the table filled out consistently, as we requested in the undertaking, that is excluding system integrity space so we're comparing apples-to-apples.

MR. SHORTS:  So just to be clear, Mr. Quinn, we would also add an October of '13 column to that chart?


MR. QUINN:  That's correct.


MR. SHORTS:  Okay.


MR. SMITH:  We can do that.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you very much.


MS. HARE:  Is there anything else, then?  No?


So we will resume tomorrow at 9:00 o'clock.  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 12:23 p.m.
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